FILED
Dec 02, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

92633-6

FILED
DEC 24 2015 CRF
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

No. 72529-7-1
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BINGO INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,
FRANCES P. GRAHAM, a single person, SCOTT BINGHAM and
KELLEY BINGHAM, husband and wife, CHRISTOPHER G.
BINGHAM and CHERISH BINGHAM, husband and wife, and DAVID
S. BINGHAM and SHARON G. BINGHAM, husband and wife,
Appellants,

v.

MUFG UNION BANK, N.A., a national banking association,
Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

R. Bruce Johnston, WSBA #4646
Johnston Lawyers, P.S.
2701 1st Ave, Suite 340
Seattle, WA 98121
(206) 866-3230

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This Petition is by Defendants-Appellants Bingo Investments, LLC, Frances P. Graham, Scott Bingham, Kelley Bingham, Christopher G. Bingham, Cherish Bingham, David S. Bingham, and Sharon G. Bingham.

II. DECISION FOR REVIEW

Petitioners seek review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals in the above-captioned appeal, entered November 2, 2015, affirming the orders of the trial court entering summary judgment in favor of Respondent and denying reconsideration. A copy of the decision is appended hereto.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where the loan agreements and guarantees at issue were created as part of a scheme by the lender, Frontier Bank, to deceive the FDIC in a vain attempt to avoid collapse, does 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) immunize the FDIC's successor bank from the defense, which the Court of Appeals ignored, that the contracts at issue were fatally tainted by illegality? This question is fit for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants incorporate the Statement of the Case from their brief to the Court of Appeals. A very brief summary follows.

When the real estate bubble popped in 2008, it took down many banks.¹ One such was Frontier Bank. The FDIC became the receiver of Frontier Bank and transferred its assets to Union Bank, N.A., in April 2010.

Before that, in a last-ditch effort to avoid regulatory shutdown, Frontier Bank had embarked on a scheme to prop up certain multi-million commercial real estate loans, even though the borrower had announced it was failing and had repudiated the loans, and the collateral was unsaleable. Two of these loans, totaling over \$33 million, were already guaranteed by Defendants David and Sharon Bingham.² Frontier Bank agreed with the Defendants' dishonest investment manager, Centurion Financial Group, LLC, to let Centurion take over the borrower entities, in return for which Centurion delivered guarantees by the other Defendants, and Frontier Bank increased the loan amounts and agreed to additional loans, to provide an interest reserve to carry the failed loans. Frontier Bank failed to disburse the promised amounts, however, even as interest payments to itself, because the FDIC increased its scrutiny of suspect banks including Frontier Bank. The increased

¹ According to the FDIC, 397 federally insured financial institutions failed in 2009–2011, including 17 in Washington.
<https://www.fdic.gov/bank/individual/failed/>.

² The Court of Appeals failed to note that the 2008 agreements superseded those original guarantees, however.

loans were wholly improper on their face, with loan to value ratios up to 455 percent, more than six times the supervisory loan-to-value ratio of 75%. (CP 576) The FDIC in its eventual post-mortem analysis of the Bank's failure found that during this period, Frontier had engaged in high-risk banking including overinvestment in under-secured, poorly appraised commercial real estate and development loans, and that its problems as of the July 2008 FDIC audit specifically including "delayed recognition of problem loans." (CP 507.) Frontier Bank insisted on modifying the loans again to remove the undisbursed interest reserves, in an attempt to cover its tracks. All was for naught, and Union Bank acquired the loans and guarantees.

V. ARGUMENT

The Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals, made the same error: they treated this case as a borrower's attempt to enforce or validate a side-deal. The Court of Appeals held that such an attempt was barred by 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e), the statute which codifies the so-called "*D'Oench Duhme*" doctrine.³

³ The body of federal law under the statute is often still called by that name, but strictly speaking, "FIRREA as construed in *O'Melveny & Myers v. FDIC*, 512 U.S. 79, 114 S.Ct. 2048, 129 L.Ed.2d 67 (1994), preempted the common law *D'Oench* doctrine. *Kessler v. Nat'l Enterprises, Inc.*, 165 F.3d 596, 598 (8th Cir. 1999) ("district court erred in relying on *D'Oench* in dismissing plaintiffs' claims."); and see *Resolution Trust Corp. v.*

The statute provides, in relevant part: “No agreement which tends to diminish or defeat the interest of the Corporation in any asset acquired by it under this section or section 1821 of this title, either as security for a loan or by purchase or as receiver of any insured depository institution, shall be **valid** against the Corporation” unless written and signed by the parties. 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) (emphasis added). That statute does not apply here for two reasons. First, where Defendants argue that the contract was illegal, they are not trying to deploy the contract as “valid against the Corporation.” Quite the opposite, the point is that the contract was **not** valid. Second, Defendants also argued to the trial court and the Court of Appeals that the modification of the loans to remove the interest reserves was a change for the bank’s benefit without consideration to the borrower and guarantors, and hence invalid, and without those modifications, the failure to disburse was a breach by the bank of the written, signed loan agreements, not of a side agreement. The Bank’s internal memorandum,

Kennelly, 57 F.3d 819, 822 (9th Cir. 1995) (“There is serious doubt whether *D’Oench, Duhme* survives *O’Melveny & Myers v. FDIC*, 512 U.S. 79, 114 S.Ct. 2048, 129 L.Ed.2d 67 (1994). Because the issue was not briefed, we leave it for another day.”)

and statements and promises, are offered as evidence, not for enforcement.

Essentially, the Court of Appeals and Union Bank are treating 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) as if it made evidence of the bank's oral statements or internal documents inadmissible for all purposes. The statute on its face is narrower than that. It is not good construction or good public policy to construe the doctrine so broadly as to sweep in innocent guarantors who gained no benefit from an illegal scheme against the FDIC.

The Court of Appeals' error is of public importance because of the public's interest in maintaining an honest banking system, and the widespread harm done to borrowers and guarantors, both commercial and residential, during the most recent wave of bank failures. The risk to the public of schemes such as the one in this case is not merely historical: there is no reason to believe that financial institutions have suddenly ceased to take foolish risks or that they will stop breaking the law when times get rough. The Court of Appeals' overly broad application of 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) should be corrected, so that investors, borrowers, and guarantors are not left entirely without recourse when banks fail after illegal conduct.

VI. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, and those set forth in Appellants' briefs in the courts below, the Court should accept review and reverse the grant of summary judgment by the trial court so that this matter may proceed to discovery and trial on the issues joined.