SC#92433-6

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 17, 2016, 3:33 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 72529-7-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BINGO INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, FRANCES P. GRAHAM, a single person, SCOTT BINGHAM and KELLEY BINGHAM, husband and wife, CHRISTOPHER G. BINGHAM and CHERISH BINGHAM, husband and wife, and DAVID S. BINGHAM and SHARON G. BINGHAM, husband and wife,

Appellants,

 \mathbf{v}_{\star}

MUFG UNION BANK, N.A., a national banking association,

Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT MUFG UNION BANK, N.A., TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT				
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION				
III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
IV.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF STATEMENT OF CASE				
V.	ARGUMENT3				
	A.	The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest	3		
	В.	Even if the Petition Involved an Issue of Substantial Public Interest, it has Already Been Determined by the U.S. Supreme Court and so Does Not Need to be Determined by the Supreme Court of Washington	6		
VI.	REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES				
VII.	CONCLUSION				
A TT	CONCLOSION				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

FEDERAL COURT CASES

Langley v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp., 484 U.S. 86, 91-92, 108 S. Ct. 396, 98 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1987)							
STATE COURT CASES							
Frontier Bank v. Bingo Investments, Court of Appeals No. 72529-7, Wn. App, 361 P.3d 2301,2,6							
In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet, 144 Wn.2d 502, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001)5							
In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646-647, 740 P.2d 843 (1987)5							
Marine Enters. v. Sec. Pac. Trading Corp., review denied, (1988)							
NW Land & Investment, Inc. v. New West Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn., 64 Wn. App. 938, 827 P.2d 334 (1992)							
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)							
FEDERAL STATUTORY AUTHORITIES							
12 U.S.C. § 1823(e)							
STATE STATUTORY AUTHORITIES							
RCW 19.36.110							
RCW 19.36.110							

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

This Answer is from Respondent MUFG Union Bank, N.A. ("Union Bank").

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellants have filed a Petition for Review ("Petition") of the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals in *Frontier Bank v. Bingo Investments*, Court of Appeals No. 72529-7, ____ Wn. App. ____, 361 P.3d 230, 2015 WL 6680234, decided on November 2, 2015.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The only criteria that Appellants give for their Petition is RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petition at 1. That Rule provides that a "petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only . . . [i]f it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The only issue that they raise in their Petition is whether the Court of Appeals' "application of 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e)" was "overly broad" as applied to Appellants' opposition to Union Bank's summary judgment motion based on an alleged "scheme by the Lender, Frontier Bank" and "should be corrected." Petition at 1,5.

To oppose summary judgment, Appellants relied on two documents as evidence of the alleged scheme. 361 P.3d at 238 - 239. These documents were signed neither by Frontier Bank nor the Appellants. So, the issue presented for review is whether "the application of 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e)" to bar consideration of two unsigned documents that purport to be evidence of a "scheme by the Lender, Frontier Bank," and that Appellants submitted in opposition to summary judgment, involves an issue of substantial public interest, and if so, whether it should be determined the Supreme Court of Washington.

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellants are borrowers and guarantors of indebtedness to Frontier Bank. The notes and guaranties evidencing the indebtedness were purchased from the FDIC by Union Bank. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Union Bank and against Appellants on the notes and guaranties. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals refused to consider the two unsigned documents by which the Appellants sought to oppose summary judgment because consideration of the documents was barred by

¹ "One document on which they rely is the Declaration of Scott Switzer dated January 19, 2010. . . . The second document on which the guarantors rely to oppose summary judgment is a Frontier loan memorandum dated March 13, 2008."

(1) the Washington statute of fraud for credit agreements, RCW 19.36.110, and (2) 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) and the *D'Oench* doctrine. 361 P.3d at 238, 241.

Appellants challenge only the Court of Appeals' decision about 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) and the *D'Oench* doctrine. Appellants do not challenge the Court of Appeals' decision about the Washington statute of fraud for credit agreements, RCW 19.36.110. So, that uncontested decision, standing alone, disposes of the appeal even if the Petition is granted.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The decision of the Court of Appeals applying 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) and the *D'Oench* doctrine applies well-settled law to the facts of this case. It does not have sweeping implications, create confusion, impact a significant segment of the population, or affect virtually all similar proceedings.

This case is unlike *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Review was granted there under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the case "present[ed] a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest." 155 Wn.2d at 577. A prosecuting attorney distributed a memorandum to all county judges announcing a general policy that the prosecuting attorney

would follow regarding recommendations for drug offender sentencing. The Court of Appeals held that the memorandum was an *ex parte* communication by a public official and, as a result, the decision that had sweeping implications and broad application.

The Supreme Court discussed the factors it considered to decide that the decision by the Court of Appeals raised an issue under RAP 13(4)(b)(4) of substantial public interest that needed to be determined by the Supreme Court:

- The decision had the potential to affect every similar proceeding;
- It invited unnecessary litigation;
- It created confusion generally;
- It had the potential to chill policy decisions taken by attorneys and judges;
- It immediately affected a significant segment of the population;
- It presented a question of a public nature that was likely to recur;
- It was desirable to provide an authoritative determination for future guidance of public officials.

155 Wn.2d at 577-578.

Significant among those factors is the potential of the Court of Appeals decision to affect virtually all similar proceedings. In In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet, 144 Wn.2d 502, 513, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001), a petition was granted under a disciplinary rule that was the equivalent of RAP 13.4(b)(4) as involving an issue of substantial public interest. That the disciplinary decision, which had the possibility of affecting virtually all criminal proceedings, concerned whether a prosecuting attorney may offer an inducement to a defense witness to not testify at a criminal proceeding. Likewise, in In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646-647, 740 P.2d 843 (1987), the Court of Appeals decision, which had the potential to affect many marital dissolution and custody cases, concerned whether the use of escalation clauses and percentage of income awards was retroactive or not.

None of the factors identified in the cases cited above are present here. The Court of Appeals decision is not confusing, will not create unnecessary litigation, and does not affect a significant segment of the population or virtually all cases by lenders against guarantors. Appellants overstate the sweep of the opinion of the Court of Appeals and it certainly does not have the result "that investors, borrowers, and guarantors are . . .

left entirely without recourse when banks fail after illegal conduct." Petition at 5.

B. Even if the Petition Involved an Issue of Substantial Public Interest, it has Already Been Determined by the U.S. Supreme Court and so Does Not Need to be Determined by the Supreme Court of Washington

Appellants argue that the Petition should be granted because "[i]t is not good construction or good public policy to construe the [D'Oench] doctrine so broadly as to sweep in innocent guarantors who gain no benefit from an illegal scheme against the FDIC." Petition at 5. Yet, as the decision of the Court of Appeals explains, this very issue has already been decided by the United States Supreme Court and followed by the appellate courts in Washington. It does not need to be determined by the Supreme Court of Washington.

As the Court of Appeals explained at 361 P.3d at 242:

In Langley v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp., [484 U.S. 86, 91-92, 108 S. Ct. 396, 401, 98 L. Ed. 2d 340, 347 (1987)], the Court determined whether an alleged scheme, that a borrower in default on a commercial loan claimed existed, could be asserted against the FDIC. The agency had succeeded to the failed bank's position as the holder of notes and guaranties for the loan the failed bank had made.

The [U.S. Supreme] Court referred to its earlier decision in *D-Oench*. It stated:

[This] Court held that this "secret agreement" could not be a defense to suit by the FDIC because it would tend to deceive the banking The Court stated that authorities. when the maker "lent himself to a scheme or arrangement whereby the banking authority ... was likely to be misled," that scheme or arrangement could not be the basis for a defense against the FDIC. We can safely assume that Congress did not mean "agreement" in § 1823(e) to be interpreted so much more narrowly than its permissible meaning as to disserve the principle of the leading case applying that term to FDICacquired notes. Certainly, one who signs a facially unqualified note subject to an unwritten and unrecorded condition upon repayment has lent himself to a scheme or arrangement that is likely to mislead the banking authorities, whether the condition consists of performance of a counterpromise (as in D-Oench, Duhme) or of the truthfulness of a warranted fact.

Here, the guarantors assert the existence of a scheme by Frontier to mislead regulatory authorities and the guarantors regarding the guaranteed loans. But the guarantors fail to overcome *Langley*'s express holding that such alleged schemes may not be asserted under § 1823(e).

Moreover, as stated in NW Land & Investment, Inc. v. New West Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn., 64 Wn. App. 938, 943, 827 P.2d 334 (1992):

The doctrine established in D'Oench has been codified in 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) and expanded beyond the facts of D'Oench. An oral contract cannot be enforced against FSLIC, FDIC or its assignees even though the regulatory agency knows of the agreement before taking control. Such contracts cannot be enforced even when a bank fraudulently induces a customer with oral representations, or when a customer is completely innocent. (Emphasis added.)

The law is already clear. It has been determined by the U.S. Supreme Court, and applied by the appellate courts in Washington. It does not need to be determined again by the Supreme Court of Washington.

VI. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES

Union Bank requests its attorneys' fees in connection with its Answer to Appellants' Petition for Review. Each note and each guaranty includes an attorneys' fee clause permitting Union Bank to recover all costs and fees of the enforcement of each note and each guaranty, and this includes costs and fees on appeal. CP 611, 637, 641, 645, 658, 683, 688, 711, 715, 725, 730, 734, 738, 742. *Marine Enters. v. Sec. Pac. Trading Corp.*, 50 Wn. App. 768, 750 P.2d 1290, *review denied*, 111 Wn.2d 1013 (1988).

VII. CONCLUSION

Union Bank asks the Supreme Court to deny the Petition.